FILED

FEB 14 2017

WASHINGTON STATE SUPREME COURT

No. 94129.7

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

No. 73408-3

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

OVERLAKE FARMS B.L.K. III, LLC, Respondent-Plaintiff,

v.

BELLEVUE-OVERLAKE FARM, LLC, Petitioner-Defendant.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Arthur W. Harrigan, Jr., WSBA #1751

Tyler L. Farmer, WSBA #39912

HARRIGAN LEYH FARMER & THOMSEN LLP
999 Third Avenue, Suite 4400

Seattle, WA 98104

Attorneys for Petitioner
(206) 623-1700

CRIGINAL

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner is Bellevue-Overlake Farm, LLC, a family LLC that is the minority owner of property held in co-tenancy with the majority owner, Overlake Farms B.L.K. III, LLC, also a family LLC. Petitioner was the defendant and respondent in the trial court and Court of Appeals.

The members of Petitioner are two sisters, Lisa and Linda Sferra, and their children. For brevity and clarity, each family LLC is referred to in this brief by its affiliated surname: Bellevue-Overlake-Farm, LLC as the Sferras, and Overlake Farms B.L.K. III, LLC as the Kapelas.

II. THE COURT OF APPEALS OPINION

The Sferras seek review of the opinion issued in *Overlake Farms B.L.K. III, LLC v. Bellevue-Overlake Farm, LLC*, No. 73408-3-L, 2016 WL 7077139 (Dec. 5, 2016) (the "Opinion"). The Opinion reversed the trial court's order confirming a unanimous referee recommendation and ordering partition of the property by sale. Opinion ¶ 39. On January 11, 2017, the Court of Appeals denied the Sferras' motion for reconsideration.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED

Partition actions¹ in Washington are governed by RCW chapter 7.52. This dispute arises under RCW 7.52.130, which authorizes sale

Partition is a means to end co-tenancy and dispose of co-tenants' interests in land.
 William B. Stoebuck et al., Washington Practice Series Real Estate: Property Law
 § 1.32 (2d ed. & 2016 Supp.). Absent voluntary partition agreed to by all co-tenants,

when there is a finding that physical partition "cannot be made without great prejudice to the owners." RCW 7.52.130. The parties disagree over what the legislature meant by the words "great prejudice to the owners."

This petition presents the following questions for review:

- 1. Does RCW 7.52.130 authorize sale when physical partition will result in great prejudice to at least one owner?
- 2. Can a court award an owelty payment² to an owner to cure great prejudice caused by physical partition?
- 3. Can a court authorize a physical partition that exceeds an owner's pro rata share of the property to cure great prejudice to the owner caused by physical partition?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. The Kapelas and the Sferras Own the Property as Tenants in Common.

Overlake Farm (the "Property") is a nearly forty-acre parcel of land located just north of downtown Bellevue and just southwest of downtown Redmond. CP 229. As a very large tract of undeveloped,

one or more co-tenants may bring a partition action in court against the others. *Id.* If partition is warranted, the court may order partition in kind (*i.e.*, physical division of the land amongst the co-tenants) or, under specific circumstances, partition by sale (*i.e.*, sale of the land with the proceeds distributed to the co-tenants). *Id.*

² When real property cannot be easily divided equally, the court may use a legal device known as "owelty" to order a co-tenant to pay the other co-tenant a sum of money to equalize an otherwise inequitable physical partition of land. *Adams v. Rowe*, 39 Wn.2d 446, 447, 236 P.2d 355 (1951).

usable land with many desirable characteristics, the Property has a unique appeal to real estate developers. 2/19 RP 166.

Two family LLCs own the Property as tenants in common with undivided interests in the entire 40 acres: the Kapelas, 75 percent ownership; the Sferras, 25 percent ownership. CP 228–29. The Property was originally purchased by Army and Betty Seijas in 1947. CP 229. Army and Betty had two daughters whose respective bequests gave rise to the current 75/25 split. CP 229.

The highest and best use of the Property is a 38-lot development of very high-end homes. 2/19 RP 165–167; 2/25 RP 11–15. The Kapelas prefer to keep the Property in its current state. CP 943. The Sferras prefer to monetize their interest in the Property. CP 943–44. At trial, the Sferras testified that they would be pleased to sell their 25-percent interest to their cousins for fair market value. 2/21 RP 110–11, 123–24.

B. The Kapelas Sue the Sferras.

During years of a dysfunctional relationship, and despite attempts at mediation and intervention by the family matriarch, the Kapelas and the Sferras have never been able to agree on basic issues related to the use and management of the Property. CP 144, 230, 845–47.

On July 28, 2011, the Kapelas sued the Sferras seeking physical partition of the Property. CP 1–5. Because physical partition would make

any physical one-fourth of the Property worth far less than one-fourth of the value of the whole, the Sferras responded by asking the trial court to authorize partition by sale. CP 6–11.

Of the several reasons why physical partition would result in a value of any one-fourth parcel far below one-fourth of the value of the whole, the main problem is that, to realize its highest and best use of residential development, the one-fourth parcel would bear the entire \$1.4 million cost of installing a sewer extension required if any part of the Property is to be developed. CP 230. Using septic as an alternative is not available under the Bellevue City Code. CP 930–33. Because the Kapelas prefer to retain the bucolic quality of their three-quarters, there is no reason to believe the Sferras could recover three-fourths of the sewer extension cost in the foreseeable future even though the extension will benefit the entire Property. CP 944 ("While latecomer agreements are authorized . . ., where one property owner constructs sewer facilities that benefit other properties, a latecomer agreement only provides the potential for cost reimbursement. There is no certainty under a latecomer agreement whether or when such reimbursement might occur.").

C. The Trial Court Appoints Referees to Determine if Physical Partition Is Feasible Without Great Prejudice.

At trial, the main issue was whether physical partition would result in great prejudice (*i.e.*, material economic loss). 2/27 RP 73–84; CP 231–32. The debate focused on whether the sum realized by developing one-fourth of the Property (resulting from physical partition) would be materially less than one-fourth of the sale price of the entire developed Property. CP 231–32. No one argued that the value of *both* parties' interests had to be materially diminished.

After a bench trial, Judge Yu ruled that the evidence available at that point did not "convince the Court that it is not possible to carve out an equitable partition without material pecuniary loss to [the Sferras]." CP 234. Judge Yu thus declined to award partition by sale "subject to" a report by three court-appointed referees (the "Referees"). CP 234. Under RCW 7.52.080, Judge Yu tasked the Referees with "recommending a specific partition in kind of the Property, or stating that, under the provisions of RCW 7.52.130, partition cannot be made without great prejudice to *one* or both Parties." CP 240–41 (emphasis added).³

Judge Yu made clear that "this is not the final resolution of the parties' dispute since the issue—the determination of an appropriate partition and of whether such a partition will result in material economic loss—is to be submitted to three referees and is then subject to further review." CP 234.

D. The Referees Unanimously Conclude That Physical Partition Is Not Possible Without Great Prejudice.

After their appointment on July 17, 2013, and after considering hundreds of pages of information presented by the parties; making multiple Property visits; and holding numerous meetings with the parties, consultants, counsel, and the City of Bellevue, the Referees issued a unanimous Draft Referees' Report and Recommendation ("Initial Report") on February 5, 2014. CP 287, 717–50. The Referees outlined their view of the best physical partition of the Property should it occur, but the Referees rejected physical partition, finding that it would produce great prejudice because the one-fourth owner would have to build the sewer extension at a cost of about \$1.4 million. CP 725–28, 733. The Referees then made a creative effort to induce the parties to reach a settlement that included the Kapelas' reimbursing the Sferras three-fourths of the sewer cost to avoid great prejudice, payment to be "in cash upon partition of the Property" with certain other covenants to effectuate what amounted to a settlement. CP 737-38.

No such agreement was reached. The Kapelas filed objections to the Referees' estimated costs, the timing of initial funding, the timeline for later payments, and the "enormous burden" placed on them. CP 807.

In short, the parties' historic inability to agree on any aspect of dealing with the Property persisted. CP 845–47. The Referees found great prejudice and, after failing on a creative attempt to induce the parties to settle, the Referees unanimously recommended that the trial court order partition by sale:

[C]onnection to a sanitary sewer is actually required and the smaller parcel cannot be subdivided without provision for sanitary sewer service Assuming the smaller ninelot parcel . . . were platted first, the upfront cost of sewer extension — approximately \$1.4 million, . . . would impose great prejudice on the value of the smaller parcel by almost any definition. If the smaller parcel [were] required to carry the entire sanitary sewer service burden as an up-front cost, not only would it sustain great prejudice, but provision of sanitary sewer service to the Property as a whole would provide disproportionate benefit to the remaining parcel.

CP 943-44.

Therefore, the Referees unanimously determined that, "due to the cost of the required sewer extension, a partition in kind would impose great prejudice on the smaller parcel." CP 947. And, under "these circumstances, the Referees [were] not persuaded that a combination of owelty and a mandatory agreement between uncooperative parties can or should play a role in addressing the issue of great prejudice." CP 947.

The Referees recommended the cousins be given a final 90 days to reach an agreement on the disposition of the Property, absent which the

Referees recommended that the Property be sold with the proceeds split between the cousins. CP 947. At no time during the entire proceedings to this point had the Kapelas suggested that the issue was great prejudice to both owners—years of effort of the trial court, the parties, and the Referees focused on the issue of great prejudice to the Sferras.

E. The Trial Court Adopts the Referees' Unanimous Recommendation.

After the Referees issued their unanimous recommendations, the parties were given an opportunity to respond. Following oral argument and consideration of the parties' briefs and evidence, Judge Chung⁴ adopted and confirmed the unanimous findings and recommendations of the Referees with modifications. CP 918–19. Once their motion for reconsideration was denied, the Kapelas appealed. CP 965, 1006.

F. The Court of Appeals Reverses and Holds that RCW 7.52.130 Requires a Showing of Great Prejudice to Each and Every Owner, Rather Than Just to One Owner.

In December 2016, the Court of Appeals reversed the trial court and summarized its holding as follows:

The Kapelas argue that the trial court erred in basing its decision upon a showing of prejudice to one owner, rather than all owners. The Sferras respond that a showing of great prejudice to one owner is sufficient to force a partition by sale. We agree with the Kapelas that Washington requires a showing of great prejudice to the

⁴ The case was reassigned to Judge Chung in June 2014 following Judge Yu's appointment to the Supreme Court.

owners, rather than just to one owner, before the court can order a partition by sale The statute does require a showing of prejudice to all the owners. The trial court abused its discretion by ordering a sale without that showing.

Opinion ¶¶ 13, 24.

According to the Court of Appeals, "[t]he trial court, and the referees, should have determined whether partitioning the property would create two parcels whose aggregate value was materially less than the value of the whole property." *Id.* ¶ 38. Therefore, the Court of Appeals "remand[ed] to the trial court to consider the facts under the correct legal standard and take any further action necessary to achieve an equitable result." *Id.* ¶ 39.

V. ARGUMENT

Under RAP 13.4, this Court will accept a petition for review if, insofar as relevant here, (1) the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of this Court; or (2) the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court.

RAP 13.4(b)(1), (4). Both grounds for review are present here.

- A. The Petition Should Be Granted Because the Opinion Is in Direct Conflict with Two Express Holdings of this Court.
 - 1. Express Language in Williamson Investment Co. v. Williamson Confirms that the Touchstone Is "Great Prejudice" to at Least One Owner.

This Court's decision in *Williamson Investment Co. v. Williamson* provides the controlling test to determine when "great prejudice to the owners" has been established. 96 Wash. 529, 534–35, 165 P. 385 (1917). The parties' briefs and the Opinion confirm as much. *See* Sferras' Br. at 22–23 (Dec. 28, 2015); Kapelas' Reply Br. at 13–14 (Feb. 26, 2016); Opinion ¶ 31.

The *Williamson* court expressly confirmed that the appropriate inquiry is focused on the impact on *each* owner individually, not *all* owners in sum:

'The law favors partition of land among tenants in common, rather than a sale thereof and a division of the proceeds, and it is only when the land itself cannot be partitioned that a sale may be ordered.' It is still recognized that an owner has the right to retain his inheritance or investment in the form in which he has it, so long as it can be done without great prejudice to *his cotenant*.

96 Wash. at 535 (emphasis added and citations omitted).

This individually focused inquiry of "great prejudice to the owners" is consistent with how the highest courts of other states have interpreted substantially similar statutory language. *See Fike v. Sharer*, 280 Or. 577, 581 n.1, 571 P.2d 1252 (1977) ("The use of the plural 'owners' in ORS 105.210, contrasted with the use of the singular 'owner' in ORS 105.205, raises the question whether the 'prejudice' which the trial

court must find under ORS 105.210 must extend to all owners. We think not. *Prejudice will rarely exist equally as to all parties. It is enough that great prejudice would occur as to one of them.* We have previously upheld a private sale where there was prejudice to only one of the parties." (emphasis added and citation omitted)); *In re Estate of McKillip*, 284 Neb. 367, 377, 820 N.W.2d 868 (2012) ("Whether partition in kind will result in great prejudice to the parties requires comparing two amounts. The first is the amount *an owner* would receive if the property were divided in kind and the owner then sold his portion of the property. The second is the amount *each owner* would receive if the entire property were sold and the proceeds were divided among the owners. *If the first amount is materially less than the second amount, great prejudice has been shown.*" (emphasis added and citations omitted)).

In *Williamson*, one owner contended that physical partition would cause him great prejudice. 96 Wash. at 537–39. This Court did not dismiss this issue as irrelevant—which it would have done under the rule adopted by the Court of Appeals—but instead examined it carefully and determined no such prejudice to *that owner* would result. *Id.* This Court also determined that a sale in the depressed real estate market would be unwise in general but only after upholding the trial court finding that the

objecting owner would not suffer great prejudice for specific reasons unrelated to market conditions. *Id.* at 539.

2. Subsequent and Controlling Supreme Court Case Law in Falk v. Green Further Confirms that "Great Prejudice" to One Owner Suffices.

Subsequent and controlling case law interpreting *Williamson* has also held that "great prejudice to the owners" is met when there is evidence of prejudice to *the* owner opposing partition in kind.

In Falk v. Green, this Court upheld an order to partition in kind, explaining: "Before the appellant could successfully object to the partition, it was necessary for him to show that great prejudice would result to him from dividing the property." 154 Wash. 340, 342, 282 P. 212 (1929) (emphasis added). Citing Williamson, this Court further explained: "The evidence in this case fails to show that prejudice would result to the appellant in a division of the property. The trial court properly ordered a division of it." Id. (emphasis added).

3. The Opinion Conflicts with Williamson and Falk.

The *Williamson* statement is clear. *Falk* confirms its meaning. Both pronouncements corroborate that great prejudice to at least one owner suffices for an order of partition by sale under RCW 7.52.130.

The Opinion conflicts with *Williamson* and *Falk* in two ways: it (1) fails to recognize that the touchstone is "great prejudice" to at least one

owner, and (2) misconstrues *Williamson* as holding that "great prejudice" is met only when the aggregate value of partitioned parcels would be substantially less than the value of the whole property. It is undisputed that the Sferras will suffer great prejudice; under *Williamson* and *Falk*, that is the end of the inquiry. The Court of Appeals misread *Williamson*.

The Opinion states that the *Williamson* court "base[d] its decision on the value of the property if sold as a whole, compared to the aggregate value of the parcels." *Id.* ¶ 31. In so holding, the Opinion suggests that the *dispositive* test for "great prejudice to the owners" is whether the aggregate value of all of the partitioned parcels is materially less than the value of the property sold as a whole. *But cf. Hegewald v. Neal*, 28 Wn. App. 783, 785 n.2, 626 P.2d 535 (1981) ("[T]he disparity in property values between a partition in kind and a partition sale *was not the only consideration* in our affirming the order of sale. Of paramount importance was the evidence of the impracticality of partitioning in kind the waters from the hot springs." (emphasis added)).

To the contrary, the *Williamson* court first analyzed whether there was great prejudice to the objecting owner and rejected each argument of great prejudice on the facts. This inquiry would have been beside the point if the rule were as the Court of Appeals interpreted it. The *Williamson* court then reinforced its conclusion in noting that an

immediate sale would actually prejudice both owners by reason of market conditions. But these observations were made simply to demonstrate that not only had the objecting owner not shown great prejudice but that both owners would benefit from delay in any sale of either parcel.

Specifically, the objecting owner in *Williamson* first argued that great prejudice existed because the building could not be "advantageously divided." 96 Wash. at 537. This Court concluded from the record that the building was "an old wooden shell" "negligible" in value and therefore should be considered "as if it were not there" for the purposes of partitioning. *Id.* at 538.

The objecting owner further argued that great prejudice existed because the building could not be removed without imposing on the owner of the other half the burden of building a sustaining wall. *Id.* This Court also rejected this argument because there was no evidence of a "continuing party wall agreement of any kind." *Id.* Instead, this Court held that a party desiring to remove his half of the building was only obligated to notify the other owner of this intention and exercise reasonable care in removing the structure. *Id.*

In these two instances, the *Williamson* court did not say, "These issues are irrelevant because they address only prejudice to one owner." It did the opposite. It recognized that the issue *was* prejudice to one owner

but rejected the arguments advanced by the objecting owner in the absence of supporting evidence.

Finally, the objecting owner argued that great prejudice existed because the aggregate value of the halves would be materially less than the sum a sale of the whole would produce. *Id.* at 539. The *Williamson* court also rejected this argument as contrary to the overwhelming evidence that, whatever the aggregate value would be, in the then-depressed real estate market, the aggregate value of the halves would nevertheless be higher than the sale price of the property as a whole. *Id.*

In sum, the *Williamson* court upheld the order to partition the property in kind because (1) the evidence did not support a showing of great prejudice to *the objecting owner*; and (2) the objecting owner's claim that the value of two parcels would be less than the value of the whole was unsupported given that a sale would actually prejudice both owners in the then-depressed real estate market.

The Opinion conflicts with *Williamson* and *Falk*. This Court should grant the petition for review to correct these errors.

B. The Petition Should Be Granted Because the Petition Involves an Issue of Substantial Public Interest that Should Be Determined by this Court.

"A decision that has the potential to affect a number of proceedings in the lower courts may warrant review as an issue of

substantial public interest if review will avoid unnecessary litigation and confusion on a common issue." *In re Flippo*, 185 Wn.2d 1032, 1032, 380 P.3d 413 (2016) (ruling granting review).

First, the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest—the statutory guarantee of the right to separate ownership of property, even if the guarantee must be accomplished through a partition by sale. See Friend v. Friend, 92 Wn. App. 799, 803, 964 P.2d 1219 (1998) ("If partition in kind is not practicable, the statute authorizes a court to order partition by sale. That is, the owner's right to separate ownership of property is guaranteed by statute, 'even though it can be accomplished only through the channel of a sale.'" (citation omitted)); cf. Price v. Price, 174 Wn. App. 894, 903, 301 P.3d 486 (2013) (trial court's order "prohibiting [co-owner] from the use or enjoyment of her real property[] raises an issue of continuing and substantial public interest").

Partition by sale exists to enforce this statutory guarantee where physical partition produces a materially inequitable outcome. The Opinion removes this critical right and will confound Washington courts in applying RCW 7.52.130 in light of express language in *Williamson* and *Falk*. The clear holdings of these cases were the basis of four years of proceedings below with no claim that great prejudice to both owners was

required. Future partition proceedings will go forward in a state of uncertainty absent clarification from this Court.

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