RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON

CLERK'S OFFICE

3/20/2017 9:51 am

RECEIVED ELECTRONICALLY

No. 94128-7

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

OVERLAKE FARMS B.L.K. III LLC, a Washington limited liability company,

Respondent,

v.

BELLEVUE-OVERLAKE FARM, LLC, a Washington limited liability company,

Petitioner.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

SMITH GOODFRIEND, P.S.

By: Howard M. Goodfriend

WSBA No. 14355

JAMESON BABBITT STITES

& LOMBARD PLLC

By: Brian Lawler WSBA No.8149

1619 8th Avenue North Seattle, WA 98109 (206) 624-0974 801 Second Avenue, Ste. 1000 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 292-1994

Attorneys for Respondent

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

IV. Argument Why Review Should be Denied.

- A. The Court of Appeals properly held that the statutory term "great prejudice to the owners" mandates a partition in kind unless it would materially reduce the value of the property that is divided between the cotenants.
 - 1. The Legislature imposed a presumption that cotenancy land be partitioned in kind, authorizing a court-ordered sale of land only if its division would result in material economic loss to the cotenants.

Washington's partition statute requires a physical division of cotenancy property in proportion to the cotenants' respective interests, with an equalizing owelty payment, if necessary, unless a physical partition "cannot be made without great prejudice to the owners," not just to a single cotenant. RCW 7.52.010, .080. The Sferras redefine the term "great prejudice" to allow a court ordered sale based upon inconvenience to a single cotenant, rather than the economic burden that a partition imposes upon each of the cotenants, contrary to established precedent.

The Court of Appeals correctly held that the court must find that a partition in kind would greatly prejudice "the owners," and not just any single one of them, before compelling a forced sale of cotenancy property. The partition statute, since territorial times, has contained a presumption that cotenancy property will be partitioned in kind by requiring the court find that a physical "partition cannot be made without great prejudice to the owners" before ordering the property sold. Code 1881, § 564. This Court need go no further than the plain language of RCW 7.52.010 and .080 to reject the Sferras' argument that the Legislature "intended" to authorize a judicial sale whenever a physical division would prejudice a single cotenant. See Jepson v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 89 Wn.2d 394, 403, 573 P.2d 10 (1977) ("We must assume the legislature meant what it said.").3

The Court of Appeals relied on settled precedent in holding that "great prejudice to the owners" "mean[s] that a partition in kind would reduce the value of the whole property." (Op. ¶28) This Court,

³ Other states with similar statutory language are in accord. See Delfino v. Vealencis, 436 A.2d 27, 33 (Conn. 1980) (reversing order for sale and directing partition in kind; "the court must consider not merely the economic gain of one tenant"); see also Schnell v. Schnell, 346 N.W.2d 713, 717 (N.D. 1984) (reversing order for sale and directing partition in kind; "the question in a partition action is whether or not partition can be accomplished without great prejudice to the owners; not to the owner, but to all of them."); Gartner v. Temple, 855 N.W.2d 846, 854 (S.D. 2014) (affirming partition in kind; "the undervaluation of permanent structures . . . affects only him. Thus, such an undervaluation could . . . not militate against a partition in kind.").

100 years ago in the case relied upon by the Sferras, recognized the presumption favoring partition in kind, as an important check on the state's power to divest an owner of private property. "The power to convert real estate into money against the will of the owner, is an extraordinary and dangerous power, and ought never to be exercised unless the necessity therefor is clearly established." Williamson Inv. Co. v. Williamson, 96 Wash. 529, 535, 165 P. 385 (1917), quoting Vesper v. Farnsworth, 40 Wis. 357 (1876). The Sferras turn on its head both the presumption and its doctrinal basis in arguing that the "right to separate ownership of property" is "guaranteed" "through a partition by sale." (Pet. 16)

The Court of Appeals decision does not conflict with Williamson, which affirmed a trial court's order partitioning cotenancy land between two cotenants because the value of the whole was not significantly less than the value of the two halves. The Williamson Court defined the statutory term "great prejudice" as "material pecuniary loss," directing the court's inquiry to "whether the value of the share of each in case of a partition would be materially less than his share of the money equivalent that could probably be obtained for the whole." 96 Wash. at 536, quoting

Idema v. Comstock, 131 Wis. 16, 110 N.W. 786, 787 (1907). The Court held that *some* loss in value –a 10% to 30% reduction in a declining and depressed real estate market – did not establish great prejudice:

Simply because the aggregate value of the halves would be somewhat less than the value of the whole, must the law on that account force one, or possibly both, of the common owners to change the form of his holding, a thing never favored in law...? We think not.

96 Wash. at 539.

The Sferras' reliance on Falk v. Green, 154 Wash. 340, 282 P. 212 (1929), to argue for review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) is equally misplaced. The Falk Court first noted the trial court's finding that "the land was subject to partition," 154 Wash. at 340, and then, relying on Williamson's "presumption that land held in common can be equitably divided according to the interests of the parties, measured by value," affirmed a partition in kind giving three cotenants equal parcels and requiring the appellant to pay owelty because he received the most valuable parcel. 154 Wash. at 342, quoting Williamson, 96 Wash. at 537. The "pronouncement" cited by the Sferras, that the complaining party in Falk failed to show "that great prejudice would result to him from dividing the property," 154 Wash. at 342, was unnecessary to the Falk Court's affirmance of a partition in kind. See

In re Domingo, 155 Wn.2d 356, 366, 119 P.3d 816 (2005) (language "unnecessary to decide the case" is dicta)

Subsequent cases similarly confirm that under RCW ch. 7.52, there are two relevant questions: (1) whether the real property is physically capable of partition and (2) whether a partition will significantly reduce its value. For instance in Friend v. Friend, 92 Wn. App. 799, 804, 964 P.2d 1219 (1998), rev. denied, 137 Wn.2d 1030 (1999), local land use regulations prohibited the subdivision of cotenancy property into separate buildable lots, mandating a judicial sale. Similarly, in *Hegewald v. Neal*, 20 Wn. App. 517, 582 P.2d 529, rev. denied, 91 Wn.2d 1007 (1978), a partition in kind "would destroy the usefulness" of property that the court characterized as "unusually complex," as its most valuable resource was a hot spring that could only be partitioned by "collecting [the water] and assigning it through a metering and distribution system, so that it can be shared by the owners of the land in accordance with their percentage of ownership." 20 Wn. App. at 519-20, 523. See also Huston v. Swanstrom, 168 Wash. 627, 628, 13 P.2d 17 (1932) (cotenancy property was "improved with a two-story brick and terra-cotta building . . . covering the entire parcel" that would have to be destroyed in order to accomplish a partition in kind).

The Court of Appeals decision follows this established authority, recognizing the undisputed fact that a physical partition would not substantially impair the value of Overlake Farm. In unchallenged findings, Judge Yu and Judge Chung, who adopted the referees' findings, determined that the undeveloped property could be equitably partitioned (75%-25%) by awarding 29 lots to the Kapelas, and awarding the Sferras nine lots plus a \$131,250 owelty payment, with *no* diminution in the property's value. (CP 941-42, ¶¶ 53-55) The Court of Appeals decision does not conflict with *Williamson* or any other case. *See* RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2).

2. The Court of Appeals properly held that Sferras could not force a sale based solely on the inconvenience to them were the cotenants unable to agree to the mechanics of funding a sewer extension.

The Court of Appeals correctly reversed because the trial court's order directing a sheriff's sale was premised on a finding that the parties' inability to agree on the mechanism to jointly fund a sewer extension would cause great prejudice to the Sferras alone. The Court of Appeals held that the trial court erred in ordering a sale without finding that resolving a mechanism for funding "a sewer extension would impact the value of the entire property or the value of the Kapelas' property." (Op. ¶38) This fact-specific decision does

not conflict with this Court's cases nor raise any issue of substantial public interest. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (4).

The Sferras' petition rests not only on their erroneous legal argument that "great prejudice to the owners" under RCW ch. 7.52 is satisfied by prejudice to only one of the cotenants, but more fundamentally, on their demonstrably false assertion that the Sferras would be forced to bear the entire cost of a sewer extension. The Sferras' misstatement flies in the face of Judge Yu's, the referees' and her successor's unchallenged findings that the Kapelas agreed unconditionally to share in the expense of bringing sewer to the property. (FF 7, CP 230; CP 933, 944, ¶35, 62)4

The Sferras do not take issue with the Court of Appeals' holding that the trial court may "consider the development potential of the property." (Op. ¶ 41, citing *Carson v. Willstadter*, 65 Wn. App. 880, 830 P.2d 676 (1992)) Here, the referees found that the value of the Property "as is" — that is, without any sewer connection — is \$9,975,000, or \$262,500 for each of 38 lots (CP 942, ¶55) and that a

⁴ The Kapelas' voluntary agreement to share that development expense is not a payment of "owelty." (Pet. 20) The only "owelty" was the equalizing payment of \$131,250 – the value of one-half lot, ordered "to be made by one party to another on account of the inequality of partition." RCW 7.52.440. (CP 942)

sewer connection would increase the development potential of the entire property, rejecting the Sferras' contention, as did Judge Yu, that there was any "premium" in selling the property as a whole. (FF 16, CP 232-33; CP 939-40, ¶¶ 46-47) The anticipated \$1.4 million development cost of a municipal sewer extension – a shared expense that would increase the value of the entire property and thus benefit both parties – did not prejudice (let alone greatly prejudice) either of these cotenants.

Rather than basing its order of sale on a finding that a physical partition would materially reduce the value of the property, the referees and the court erroneously found "great prejudice" based on the parties' "long-standing inability to agree." (CP 947, ¶65) The Court of Appeals correctly reversed that decision as contrary to this Court's repeated definition of "great prejudice" as "material pecuniary loss, not temporary inconvenience," *Williamson*, 96 Wash. 537, or "[i]nconvenience of the other owners." *Hamilton v. Johnson*, 137 Wash. 92, 100, 241 Pac. 672 (1925).

The Sferras' attempt to equate "inability to agree" with "great prejudice" does not present an "issue of substantial public interest." RAP 13.4(b)(4). The Legislature codified an action for judicial partition precisely because cotenants could not agree. It nonetheless

mandated a presumption in favor of partition in kind, necessarily recognizing that a partition would result in disputing cotenants living side by side as neighbors. If "long-standing inability to agree," were sufficient to justify a court-ordered sheriff's sale of cotenancy property, as the successor judge ordered here, the presumption in favor of a partition in kind would always be rebutted by the cotenant favoring a sale. The Court of Appeals correctly held the Sferras' desire to avoid the inconvenience of disagreements on the mechanics of a sewer connection the Kapelas agreed to fund could not, standing alone, establish "great prejudice" under RCW ch. 7.52.

The Sferras' interpretation of the partition statute would give preference to the cotenant favoring a sale of cotenancy property and encourage that cotenant's intransigence, in derogation of equity's historical respect for the uniqueness of real property that is capable of partition without great cost. Judge Yu recognized this common law basis for the presumption favoring a partition in kind. (CL 6, CP 234: "[t]here is a human and family element to the Property that cannot be discounted.") The Court of Appeals properly held, as have other courts, that in the absence of material economic detriment to

both parties, the trial court erred in ordering the parties' family property to be sold at sheriff's sale rather than partitioned in kind.⁵

3. If this Court grants review, it should direct a partition in kind rather than a remand.

The Court of Appeals reversed and remanded because "the trial court and the referees, should have determined whether partitioning the property would create two parcels whose aggregate value was materially less than the value of the whole property." (Op. ¶38) But the trial court already made that determination. In the event this Court accepts review, it should hold that the Sferras failed as a matter of law to meet their burden of showing that a partition in kind would result in great prejudice under the proper standard.

In unchallenged findings, the trial court found that the value of the property as a whole – almost \$10 million – is the same as the sum of the parties' respective interests upon a partition in kind. (CP 942, \$\mathbb{9}50\$) It also found that the Kapelas will pay 75% of the cost of

⁵ See , e.g., Ark Land Co. v. Harper, 215 W. Va. 331, 599 S.E.2d 754, 761 (2004) ("sentimental or emotional interests in the property . . . should ordinarily control when it is shown that the property can be partitioned in kind, though it may entail some economic inconvenience to the party seeking a sale."); Delfino v. Vealencis, 181 Conn. 533, 436 A.2d 27, 33 (1980) (reversing order for sale; co-tenant "made her home on the property; . . . derives her livelihood from the operation of a business on this portion of the property, as her family before her has for many years.").

extending sanitary sewer to the property. (FF 7, CP 230; CP 944, ¶62) In the absence of any evidence that the "cost" of cooperating in the building a sewer extension that, when completed, will benefit all 38 parcels would materially diminish the value of the parties' respective interests, there is no basis for the Sferras on remand to rebut the presumption favoring a partition in kind.

Where as here the evidence is undisputed, a "remand for further fact finding . . . would be a useless act." *Heriot v. Lewis*, 35 Wn. App. 496, 502, 668 P.2d 589 (1983). In the unlikely event that this Court accepts review, it should hold based on the undisputed record that the Sferras failed to meet their burden of establishing "great prejudice" and direct entry of judgment in favor of the Kapelas.

V. Conclusion.

This Court should deny the petition for review.